
We have audited the consolidated financial statements 
of Origo Partners Plc (“the group”) for the year ended 
31 December 2014 which comprise the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated 
statement of financial position, consolidated statement 
of changes in equity, consolidated statement of cash 
flows and the related report notes 1 to 31. The financial 
reporting framework that has been applied in their 
preparation is applicable law and International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and adopted for use 
in the European Union.

This report is made solely to the group’s members, as a 
body.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we 
might state to the group’s members those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no 
other purpose.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, we 
do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other 
than the group’s members as a body for our audit work, 
for this report or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ 
Responsibilities set out in the directors’ report, the 
directors are responsible for the preparation of the 
financial statements and for being satisfied that they 
give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit 
and express an opinion on the financial statements 
in accordance with applicable law and International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards 
require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s 
Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to 
give reasonable assurance that the financial statements 
are free from material misstatement, whether caused by 
fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether 
the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s 
circumstances and have been consistently applied and 
adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by the directors; and the 
overall presentation of the financial statements.  In 
addition, we read all the financial and non-financial 
information in the Independent Auditors’ Report and 

Audited Financial Statements to identify material 
inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and 
to identify any information that is apparently materially 
incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the 
knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing 
the audit.  If we become aware of any apparent material 
misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the 
implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion the financial statements:
give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s 
affairs as at 31 December 2014 and of the group’s 
loss for the year then ended; and

have been properly prepared in accordance with 
IFRS issued by the IASB and adopted for use in 
the European Union.

Ernst & Young LLC
Chartered Accountants
Isle of Man
5 June 2015
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AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Origo Partners Plc

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2014

2014 2013
Notes US$'000 US$'000

Investment loss: 2
Realised losses on disposal of investments (14,513) (7,976)
Unrealised losses on investments (30,078) (39,603)
Share of gains of jointly controlled entity - 7
Income from loans 764 945
Dividends 4 80

(43,823) (46,547)
Fund consulting fee 98 35
Consulting services payable 3 (98) (151)
Other income 52 32
Performance fee
- Performance incentive 4 (5,790) 3,091
Other administrative expenses 5 (6,765) (13,301)
Share-based payments 27 (545) (443)
Net loss before finance costs and taxation (56,871) (57,284)
Foreign exchange losses (43) (476)
Finance income 9 18 431
Finance cost 9 (5,336) (562)
Loss before tax (62,232) (57,891)
Income tax 10 341 (24)
Loss after tax (61,891) (57,915)

Other comprehensive (loss)/income
Other comprehensive (loss)/income to be reclassified to profit or       
   loss in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations (252) 129
Net other comprehensive (loss)/income to be reclassified to 
profit or loss in subsequent periods (252) 129
Tax on other comprehensive (loss)/income - -
Other comprehensive (loss)/income net of tax (252) 129
Total comprehensive loss after tax (62,143) (57,786)

Loss after tax
Attributable to:
- Owners of the parent (62,357) (57,533)
- Non-controlling interests 466 (382)

(61,891) (57,915)
Total comprehensive loss
Attributable to:
- Owners of the parent (62,617) (57,404)
- Non-controlling interests 474 (382)

(62,143) (57,786)
Basic loss per share 11 (17.89) cents (16.51) cents
Diluted loss per share 11 (17.89) cents (16.51) cents

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Origo Partners Plc

Consolidated statement of financial position
At 31 December 2014

2014 2013
Assets Notes US$'000 US$'000 
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 12 96 175
Intangible assets 6 11
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 14 91,306 111,972
Loans 15 653 10,030
Derivative financial assets 16 11 109

92,072 122,297
Current assets 
Inventories - 2
Loans due within one year 15 28,246 31,726
Other current assets 17 - 8,205
Trade and other receivables 18 3,896 3,404
Cash and cash equivalents 19 5,185 35,300

37,327 78,637
Total assets 129,399 200,934
Current liabilities
Short-term borrowings 19 - 160
Trade and other payables 20 1,249 1,817
Performance incentive payable within one year 20 8 233
Financial guarantee contracts 21 - 825

1,257 3,035
Non-current liabilities
Provision 22 7,701 1,787
Convertible zero dividend preference shares 23 63,609 58,313
Deferred income tax liability 10 2,488 2,830

73,798 62,930
Net assets 54,344 134,969
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Issued capital 24 55 55
Share premium 150,262 150,281
Share-based payment reserve 7,147 6,741
Retained earnings (111,484) (49,127)
Translation reserve (1,500) (1,248)
Equity component of convertible zero 
  dividend preference shares 23 8,297 8,297
Other reserve 25 995 (2,193)

53,772 112,806
Non-controlling interests 572 22,163
Total equity 54,344 134,969
Total equity and liabilities 129,399 200,934

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue. They were signed on 
its behalf by:
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16 June 2015
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Origo Partners Plc

Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
For the year ended 31 December 2014

Issued  
capital

Share 
premium

Share-
based 

payment 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Equity 
component 

of CZDP
Other 

reserve
Translation 

reserve Total

Non-
controlling 

interests
Total

equity
Notes US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

At 1 January 2013 55 150,379 6,109 9,241 7,462 (2,244) (1,377) 169,625 1,875 171,500 

Loss for the year - - - (57,533) - - - (57,533) (382) (57,915)

Other comprehensive income - - - - - - 129 129 - 129

Total comprehensive(loss)/
  income -                

-   - (57,533) - - 129 (57,404) (382) (57,786)

Restructure CZDP 23 - - - (835) 835 - - - - -

Own shares acquired - (98) - - - 51 - (47) - (47)

Share-based payment    
  expense 27 - - 632 - - - - 632 - 632
Minority interests - - - - - - - - 20,670 20,670

At 31 December 2013 55 150,281 6,741 (49,127) 8,297 (2,193) (1,248) 112,806 22,163 134,969

Loss for the year - - - (62,357) - - - (62,357) 466 (61,891)

Other comprehensive loss - - - - - (252) (252) - (252)

Total comprehensive (loss)/  
  income - - - (62,357) - - (252) (62,609) 466 (62,143)

Capital redemption of CCP 
fund - - - - - 3,162 - 3,162 (9,003) (5,841) -
Own shares acquired - (19) - - - 26 - 7 - 7

Share-based payment 
  expense 27 - - 406 - - - - 406 - 406
Disposal of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - (13,054) (13,054)

At 31 December 2014 55 150,262 7,147 (111,484) 8,297 995 (1,500) 53,772 572 54,344

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

The following describes the nature and purpose of each reserve within parent’s equity:

Reserve Description and purpose

Share premium Amounts subscribed for share capital in excess of nominal value.

Share-based payment reserve Equity created to recognise share-based payment expense.

Equity component of CZDP Convertible zero dividend preference shares.

Other reserve Equity created to recognise fair value change of available-for-sale 
investments and own shares acquired.

Translation reserve Equity created to recognise foreign currency translation differences.
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Origo Partners Plc

Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2014

2014 2013

Notes US$'000 US$'000

Loss before tax (57,891) (67,770)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 5 44 50

Performance incentive 4 5,790 (3,091)

Share-based payments 27 545 443

Provision for bad debts 5 803 4,428

Provision for financial guarantee contracts 5 - 825

Realised losses on disposal/written off of investments 2 14,513 7,976

Unrealised losses on investments at FVTPL* 2 19,601 33,404

Unrealised losses on loans 2 10,379 5,381

Fair value losses on derivative financial assets 2 98 818

Share of gains of jointly controlled entity 2 - (7)

Income from loans (688) (945)

Foreign exchange losses 43 476

Interest expenses of convertible zero dividend preference shares 9 5,296 434

Purchases of investments at FVTPL 8 (363) (476)

Purchases of loans 15 (2,121) (8,626)

Proceeds from disposals of investments at FVTPL 8 396 1,498

Proceeds from repayment of loans 15 732 -

Purchase of other current assets - (42)

Operating loss before changes in working capital and provisions (7,164) (15,345)

 (Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (569) 1,341

Decrease/(increase) in inventories 2 (2)

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (793) 265

Decrease in financial guarantee contracts 21 (825) -

Net cash outflow from operations (9,349) (13,741)

Investing activities

Disposal/(purchases) of property, plant and equipment 18 (101)

Disposal of subsidiaries, net of cash impact (15,054) 6,064

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash impact - 21,359

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing activities (15,036) 27,322

Financing activities

Repayment of shareholder loans (500) -

Redemption of convertible zero dividend preference shares - (3,000)

Subscription (CCF & MSE)** - 324

Redemption (CCP LP, CCF & MSE)** (5,726) (698)

Net cash outflow from financing activities (6,226) (3,374)

Net (decrease)/ increase in cash and cash equivalents (30,611) 10,207

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 496 29

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 35,300 25,064

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 5,185 35,300

*   FVTPL refers to fair value through profit or loss
**  CCP LP, CCF & MSE refer to China Cleantech Partners, L.P., China Commodities Absolute Return Ltd and MSE 
     Liquidity Fund
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Origo Partners Plc

Notes to the financial statements

1         Accounting policies

1.1      Corporate information

The consolidated financial statements of Origo Partners Plc (‘the Company”) and its subsidiaries (together “the 
Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2014 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the 
Directors on 5 June 2015. The Company is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in the Isle of 
Man whose shares are publicly traded on the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange. The registered office is 
located at 33-37 Athol Street, Douglas, Isle of Man IM1 1LB. The principal activities of the Group are described 
in Note 8.

1.2      Basis of preparation

The Group financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS issued by the IASB and adopted for use 
in the European Union and also to comply with relevant Isle of Man law.

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial information are set out 
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless otherwise stated.

The financial information set out below, is based on the financial statements of the Company and its 
subsidiaries and associates for the year ended 31 December 2014.

The consolidated financial information has been prepared under the historical cost convention except for 
certain financial instruments, which have been measured at fair value, and in accordance with IFRS and 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee’s interpretations (“IFRIC”) (collectively , “IFRSs”) 
issued by the IASB.

Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets that is not held by the Group 
and are presented separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and within equity in 
the consolidated statement of financial position, separately from parent shareholders’ equity.  

1.3      Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of consolidated financial information in conformity with IFRSs requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures 
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial information and the reported amounts 
of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Although these estimates are based upon management’s 
best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results may differ from those estimates.

The following is a list of accounting policies which cover areas that the Directors consider require estimates and 
judgements which have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year:

(a)  

(b)  

(c)  
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Origo Partners Plc

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1          Accounting policies (continued)

1.3       Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued)

Fair value of unquoted equity instruments

The Group has estimated the value of each of its unquoted equity instruments by using judgement to 
select the most appropriate valuation methodology for each investment based on the recommendations 
of the International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation Guidelines (the “Guidelines”). Valuation 
methodologies mainly include the price of recent investments, earnings multiples, industry valuation 
benchmarks, available market prices and so on, which may apply individually or in combination. Key 
assumptions and judgements of each methodology concerning the future and other key sources of 
estimation uncertainty will have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the fair value of the 
instruments within the next financial year. 

Share-based payments, equity-settled transactions and cash-settled transactions

The Group has applied the requirements of IFRS 2 share-based payment in these consolidated financial 
statements. 

The Group has issued equity-settled share-based payments to certain directors and employees, and to its 
advisors for services provided in respect of the admission of the Company to trading on the AIM market of the 
London Stock Exchange. Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and employees are measured 
at the fair value of equity instruments awarded at the date of grant. Equity-settled share-based payments to 
non-employees are measured at the fair value of goods or services rendered at the date when the goods 
or services are received. Where equity investments are granted subject to vesting conditions, share-based 
payments are expensed to the profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the 
Group’s estimate of the number of shares that will eventually vest. Fair value is measured by use of the 
Binominal option pricing model.

The Group has granted cash-settled share-based payments to certain directors, executives and key 
employees under the Company’s joint share ownership scheme ("JSOS"). The cost of cash-settled share-
based payments is measured initially at fair value at the grant date using the Binominal Tree model. This 
fair value is expensed over the period until the vesting date with recognition of a corresponding liability. 
The liability is remeasured to fair value at each reporting date up to and including the settlement date, with 
changes in fair value recognised in employee expense.

When estimating the value of the options and the upper share rights ("USR"), significant assumptions such as 
the expected life of the option and the USR, and expected volatility of the share have been applied based on 
management’s best estimates.
 

1.4       Summary of significant accounting policies

The following principal accounting policies have been applied consistently throughout the year in dealing with 
items which are considered material in relation to the financial information.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its 
subsidiaries as at 31 December 2014.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains 
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date when such control ceases. The financial statements 
of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company, using consistent 
accounting policies. All intra-group balances, transactions, unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-
group transactions and dividends are eliminated in full.

(a)  

(a)  

(b)  
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Origo Partners Plc

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1         Accounting policies (continued)

1.4      Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders 
of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling 
interests having a deficit balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity 
transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

•   Derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary
•   Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest
•   Derecognises the cumulative translation differences, recorded in equity
•   Recognises the fair value of the consideration received
•   Recognises the fair value of any investment retained
•   Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss
•   Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income to 
    profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate.

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is 
measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value and 
the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business combination, the acquirer 
measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable 
net assets. Acquisition costs incurred are expensed and included in administrative expenses.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and 
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host 
contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously 
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through profit or loss. 
This will cease to apply when control is achieved.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the 
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed 
to be an asset or liability, will be recognised in accordance with IAS 39 in profit or loss. If the contingent 
consideration is classified as equity, it should not be remeasured until it is finally settled within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and 
the amount recognised for non-controlling interest over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed. If this consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the 
difference is recognised in profit or loss.
 

(a)  
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Origo Partners Plc

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1          Accounting policies (continued)

1.4       Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the 
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, 
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, 
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, 
the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation 
when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is 
measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating 
unit retained.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally 
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights except where the entity has 
been classified as held for trading and measured at fair value through profit or loss according to IAS 
39 based on the significance the investments are to the Group. This treatment is permitted by IAS 28 
investment in Associate, which requires investments held by venture capital organisations to be excluded 
from its scope.

Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting and are initially 
recognised at cost. The Group’s investments in associates include goodwill (net of any accumulated 
impairment loss) identified on acquisition.

The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the statement 
of comprehensive income, and its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves are recognised 
in reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of 
the investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the 
associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless 
it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the 
Group’s interests in the associate. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides 
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed 
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Jointly controlled entities

Interests in jointly controlled entities which are held for operating activity are accounted for in accordance 
with IAS 28 using the equity method of accounting. Interest in jointly controlled entities that are held as 
part of Group’s investment portfolio are carried in the balance sheet at fair value through profit or loss in 
accordance with IAS39, with changes in fair value recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in 
the period of the change.

(a)  

(c)  

(b)  
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1          Accounting policies (continued)

1.4       Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Foreign currencies

• Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in United States dollar, which is also the parent 
company’s functional currency. For each entity the Group determines the functional currency and items 
included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.

• Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income.

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in foreign currencies classified as available 
for sale are analysed between translation differences resulting from changes in the amortised cost of the 
security, and other changes in the carrying amount of the security. Translation differences are recognised 
in profit or loss, and other changes in the carrying amount are recognised in other reserve.

Non-monetary financial assets and liabilities that are carried at historic cost are translated using the 
exchange rate as at the dates of initial transactions and are not re-measured. Translation differences on 
non-monetary financial assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss are 
recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary 
financial assets, such as equities classified as available for sale, are included in the fair value reserve in 
equity.

•  Group companies

The results and financial position of all Group entities, none of which has the currency of a 
hyperinflationary economy that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are 
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing 
rate at the date of that statement of financial position;

income and expenses for each statement of comprehensive income are translated at average 
exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the 
rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the 
dates of the transactions); and

all resulting exchange differences are recognised in the statement comprehensive income as other 
comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and 
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

Origo Partners Plc

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

(d)  

(I)  

(II)  

(III)  
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Origo Partners Plc

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1          Accounting policies (continued)

1.4       Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets, at initial recognition, into one of the following categories: 
investments at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, derivative financial instruments and 
other financial assets, as appropriate, depending on the purpose for which the asset was acquired. The 
Group’s accounting policy for each category is as follows:

•  Investments at fair value through profit or loss

These financial assets are designated by the Board of Directors at fair value through profit or loss at 
inception, which include debt and equity securities, and derivatives, upon initial recognition on the basis 
that they are part of a group of financial assets which are managed and have their performance evaluated 
on a fair value basis, in accordance with the risk management and investment strategies of the Group.

Recognition / Derecognition:

Regular acquisitions and disposals of investments are recognised on the trade date on which the Group 
received acquisitions of investments or delivered disposals of investments. A fair value through profit 
or loss asset is derecognised when the Group loses control over the contractual rights that comprise 
that asset. This occurs when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or the Group 
has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the 
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; 
and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the 
Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has 
transferred control of the asset. Fair value through profit or loss assets that are derecognised and 
corresponding receivables from the buyer for the payment are recognised as of the date the Group 
commits to sell the assets.

Measurement:

Financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss is initially recognised at fair value. Transaction 
costs are expensed in the profit or loss. Subsequent to initial recognition, all financial assets and financial 
liabilities are measured at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the 
financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss are presented in the profit or loss in the period in 
which they arise.

Dividend income from investments at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in the profit or loss 
within other income when the Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Fair value estimation:

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded securities) is 
based on quoted market prices at the reporting date. The quoted market price used for financial assets 
held by the Group is the current bid price. The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an 
active market is determined by using valuation techniques in accordance with the Guidelines. Pursuant 
to the Guidelines, the Group believes the following techniques applied individually, or in combination, are 
the most suitable ones for the Group’s current portfolios:

(e)  
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Origo Partners Plc

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1          Accounting policies (continued)

1.4       Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

•  Investments at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

Fair value estimation (continued):

Price of recent investments: When valuing investments on the basis of the price of recent 
investments, the cost of the investment itself or the price at which a significant amount of new 
investment into the relevant investee company was made to estimate the fair value of the 
investment, but only for a limited period following the date of the relevant transaction. During the 
limited period following the date of the relevant transactions, changes or events subsequent to the 
relevant transaction which would imply a change in the investment’s fair value have been assessed.

Earnings multiples: When valuing investments on a multiple basis, the Group has abided by the 
following principles:

apply a multiple that is appropriate and reasonable (giving the risk profile and earnings growth 
prospects of the underlying company) to the maintainable earnings of the underlying company;

adjust the amount derived in (i) above for surplus assets or excess liabilities and other relevant 
factors to derive the enterprise value for the underlying company;

deduct from the enterprise value all amounts relating to financial instruments ranking ahead of 
the highest ranking instrument of the Group in a liquidation and taking into account the effect of 
any instrument that may dilute the Group’s investments in order to derive the gross attributable 
enterprise value;

apply an appropriate marketability discount to the gross attributable enterprise value derived 
in (iii) above in order to derive the net attributable enterprise value. The marketability discount 
relates to an investment rather than to the underlying business. Marketability discounts will vary 
from situation to situation and is a question of judgement. When a discount is applied, relevant 
factors in determining the appropriate marketability discount in each particular situation will be 
considered. A discount in the range of 20% to 30% (in steps of 5%) is generally used in practice, 
depending upon the particular circumstances; and

apportion the net attributable enterprise value appropriately between the relevant financial 
instruments.

Discounted cash flow (“DCF”): Fair value is estimated by deriving the present value of the investment 
using reasonable assumptions of expected future cash flows and the terminal value and date, and 
the appropriate risk-adjusted discount rate that quantifies the risk inherent to the investment. The 
discount rate is estimated with reference to the market risk-free rate, a risk adjusted premium and 
information specific to the investment or market sector.

(e)  

(I)  

(II)	

(III)

i.	

ii.	

iii.	

iv.	

v.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1         Accounting policies (continued)

1.4      Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Fair value estimation (continued):

Industry valuation benchmarks: The use of industry benchmarks is only likely to be reliable and 
therefore appropriate as the main basis of estimating fair value in limited situations, and is more 
likely to be useful as a sense of check of values produced using other methodologies. The Group 
has primarily relied on such metrics to validate the outcome produced by other valuation techniques.

• Loans and receivables

These assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
on an active market. Income from loans and receivables is recognised as it accrues by reference to the 
principal outstanding and the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the 
estimated future cash flows through the expected life of the financial asset to the asset’s carrying value. 
The losses arising from impairment are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

This category generally applies to trade and other receivables. For more information on receivables, refer 
to Note 18.

• Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are held at fair value and changes in fair value are recognised in profit or 
loss of the statement of comprehensive income.

(f)    Financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, financial guarantee contracts and 
preference shares.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and 
payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below:

• Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts that require a payment to be made 
to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when due 
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contracts are recognised initially 
as a liability at fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the 
guarantee. Subsequently, the liability is measured at the higher of the best estimate of the expenditure 
required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date and the amount recognised less cumulative 
amortisation.

(e)  
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1          Accounting policies (continued)

1.4       Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

• Preference shares

Convertible Zero Dividend Preference Shares (“CZDP”) are regarded as a compound financial instrument, 
consisting of a liability component and an equity component. The fair value of the liability component is 
estimated at the date of issue using the prevailing market interest rate for a similar bond without early 
redemption or equity conversion option. The difference between the proceeds of the CZDP issue and 
the fair value of the liability component of the CZDP is assigned to the equity component of the CZDP 
representing the embedded equity conversion option, and the derivative financial assets representing the 
embedded early redemption option.

Issue costs were allocated among the liability, and equity components of the CZDP and the derivative 
financial assets based on their relative carrying amounts at the date of issue. 

The interest charges on the CZDP liability component is computed using the prevailing market interest 
rate for similar bond without early redemption or equity conversion option.

• Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or 
expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially 
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The 
difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents and short-term borrowings

Cash and cash equivalents are defined as cash in hand, demand deposits, time deposit and short-
term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity, generally less than three months, less bank 
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management. For 
the purpose of the statement of financial positions, cash and bank balances comprise cash on hand and at 
banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.

Short-term borrowings are made for varying periods of between three months and twelve months, 
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and pay interest at the respective short-term 
borrowing rates.

Share-based payments

Employees (including senior executives) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based 
payment transactions, whereby employees render services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-
settled transactions”). Certain directors, executives and key employees of the Group are granted share 
appreciation rights, which can only be settled in cash (“cash-settled transactions”).  Advisors receive equity-
settled options in relation to the Company’s admission to trading on the AIM market of the London Stock 
Exchange.

Origo Partners Plc

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

(f)  

(g)  

(h)  
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1          Accounting policies (continued)

1.4       Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of these options with employees are measured by reference to the fair value of the equity 
instruments awarded at the date of grant, whereas those with non-employees are measured at the fair 
value of goods or services received at the date when the goods or services have been received.  The fair 
value is determined by using Binominal Tree model, further details of which are given in note 27.

Equity-settled transactions

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over 
the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which 
the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award (the “vesting date”). The cumulative expense 
recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the extent to 
which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that 
will ultimately vest. The profit or loss charge of credit for a period represents the movement in cumulative 
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period and is recognised in employee expense (see 
Note 6).

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is 
conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether 
or not the market condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are 
satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the minimum expense recognised is the expense 
as if the terms had not been modified. An additional expense is recognised for any modification, which 
increases the total fair value of the share-based payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the 
employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, 
and any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is 
substituted for the cancelled award, and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, 
the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as described 
in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of 
earnings per share.

Cash-settled transactions

The cost of cash-settled transactions is measured initially at fair value at the grant date using binominal 
tree model, further details of which are given in Note 27. This fair value is expensed over the period until 
the vesting date with recognition of a corresponding liability. The liability is remeasured to fair value at each 
reporting date up to and including the settlement date, with changes in fair value recognised in employee 
expense (see Note 6).

 

(h)  
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1         Accounting policies (continued)

1.4      Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Taxes

Current Income Tax
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected 
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the 
amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the 
statement of comprehensive income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns 
with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes 
provisions where appropriate.

Deferred Tax
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

where the deferred tax liability arises from goodwill or the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and
in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates 
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that 
the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax 
credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against 
which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax 
losses can be utilised, except:

where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of 
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and
in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and 
associates, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary 
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the 
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred 
tax asset to be utilised.  Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are 
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax 
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period 
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

(i)  

(I)  

(I)  

(II)	

(II)	
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1          Accounting policies (continued)

1.4       Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Taxes (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and 
the same taxation authority.

Income taxes are recognised in the profit or loss or directly in equity except when a tax exemption has been 
granted.

Performance incentive payable

Performance incentive payable is only accrued on those investments (classified as investments at fair value 
through profit or loss and loans) in which the investment’s performance conditions, measured at the end 
of each reporting period, would be achieved if those investments were realised at fair value. Fair value is 
determined using the Group’s valuation methodology and is measured at the end of each reporting period. 

Any changes in the performance incentive provision will be reflected in the line item of the statement of 
comprehensive income in which the expense establishing the provision was originally recorded.

Investment Income (Loss)

Investment income/loss derived from the investment activities is equivalent to “revenue” for the purposes of 
IAS1. Investment income/loss is analysed into the following components:

Realised gains/losses on the disposal of investments are the difference between the fair value of the 
consideration received less any directly attributable costs, on the sale of equity and the repayment of 
loans and receivables, and its carrying value at the start of the accounting period.

Unrealised gains/losses on the revaluation of investments are the movement in the carrying value of 
investments between the start and end of the accounting period.

Share of profit/loss of the associate and joint controlled entity are the Group’s share of the net profit/loss 
of the associate and joint controlled entity accounted for using the equity method as per its ownership 
interest in the associate and joint controlled entity. 

Income/loss from loans is recognised on a time proportion basis as it accrues by reference to the principal 
outstanding and the effective interest rate applicable.

Dividends earned on equity investments are recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment 
have been established.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group has a legal or 
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, which will probably result in an outflow of 
economic benefits that can be reasonably estimated.

Origo Partners Plc

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

(i)  

(j)  

(k)  

(l)  
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Origo Partners Plc

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1          Accounting policies (continued)

1.4       Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be 
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of an outflow 
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, the existence of which will only be confirmed by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities 
unless the probability of an outflow of economic benefits is remote.

New and revised IFRS that are effective or early adopted in 2014 and relevant to the Group

The IASB has issued the following new and revised IFRSs (including International Accounting Standards 
(“IASs”)) and IFRIC interpretations that are effective as of 1 January 2014: 

IFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements
		
IFRS 10 defines the principle of control, establishes control as the basis for determining which entities are 
consolidated in the consolidated financial statements and sets out the accounting requirements for the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements. The amendments to IFRS 10 introduces an exemption to 
the principal that all subsidiaries should be consolidated, defines an Investment Entity and requires a parent 
that is an Investment Entity to measure its investments in particular subsidiaries at fair value through profit 
or loss in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments instead of consolidating those subsidiaries in its 
consolidated and separated financial statements. Currently, the Company does not qualify as an Investment 
Entity. The application of IFRS 10 and amendments has no material impact on the Group’s financial position 
and performance.

IFRS 11 Joint arrangements

IFRS 11 replaces IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC-13 Jointly-controlled Entities – Non-monetary 
Contributions by Ventures. IFRS 11 uses some of the terms that were used IAS 31, but with different 
meanings. IFRS 11 addresses only two forms of joint arrangements (joint operations and joint ventures) 
where IAS 31 identified three forms of joint ventures (jointly controlled operations, jointly controlled assets 
and jointly controlled entities). IFRS 11 removes the option to account for jointly controlled entities using 
proportionate consolidation. Instead, jointly controlled entities that meet the definition of a joint venture – as 
defined in IFRS 11 - must be accounted for using the equity method.

IFRS 12 Disclosure of interests in other entities

IFRS 12 sets out the requirement for disclosure relating to an entity’s interests in subsidiaries, joint 
arrangements, associate and structured entities. The requirements in IFRS 12 are more comprehensive 
than the previously existing disclosure requirements for subsidiaries. The application of IFRS 12 affected 
presentation only and had no impact on the Group’s financial position or performance. 

The Group has not early adopted any other standard, interpretation or amendment that was issued but is 
not yet effective.
 

(l)  

(m)  
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1         Accounting policies (continued)

1.4      Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Standards issued but not yet effective 

Standards issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Group’s financial statements are 
listed below. This listing is of standards and interpretations issued that the Group reasonably expects to be 
have an impact on disclosures, financial position or performance when applied at a future date.

IFRS 9 Financial instruments-classification and measurement is effective from 1 January 2018 subject to 
EU endorsement.
IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers is effective from 1 January 2017 subject to EU 
endorsement.

With the exception of IFRS 9 the Directors do not anticipate that the adoption of these standards and 
interpretations will have a material impact on the financial statements in the period of initial application and 
have decided not to adopt early.

The initial application of IFRS 9 could have a material effect on the classification and measurement of the 
Group’s financial assets, but no impact on the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial 
liabilities.

(n)  
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2          Investment loss

3          Consulting services receivable/(payable)

2014
US$'000

2013
US$'000

Realised losses on disposal of investments (14,513) (7,976)
- Investments at FVTPL (1,233) (3,002)
- Loans (3,867) (4,791)
- Subsidiary (9,413) (268)
- Associate - 85
Unrealised losses on investments (30,078)  (39,603)
- Investments at FVTPL (19,601)  (33,404)
- Loans (10,379)  (5,381)
- Derivative financial assets (98)  (818)
Share of profits of jointly controlled entity - 7
Income from loans 764 945
Dividends 4 80
Total (43,823) (46,547)

2014
US$'000

2013
US$'000

Consulting services receivable 17 26
Consulting services payable (115) (177)
Total (98) (151)
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2014
US$'000

2013
US$'000

Payable within one year (8) -
Provision for performance incentive payable over one year (5,782) 3,091
Total (5,790) 3,091

A balance sheet provision for future performance incentive for the year ended 31 December 2014 was 
US$7,404,454 (2013: US$1,622,083). The performance incentives are accrued and payable to Origo Adviser Ltd 
refer to Note 28 for details on Origo Advisers Ltd.
 
The amount of performance incentives has been calculated and accrued in accordance with the basis, (i) from 
the time the Hurdle has been reached, the next US$1,700,000 of Gross Realisations shall be applied towards 
equal payments of performance incentives; and thereafter (ii) 20 per cent of each subsequent Gross Realisation 
shall be applied towards an equal further payment of performance incentive.

Hurdle: US$90,000,000 of Gross Realisations

Gross Realisation: cumulative gross cash proceeds received by or on behalf of the Group which are 
derived from the realisation of assets in the Portfolio, after having made full provision for repayment of any 
third party debt (including any unpaid interest thereon) and any related hedge or other break costs and any 
prepayment fees and penalties thereon, but before any related transactional costs, fees and expenses and 
any taxes required to be paid by the relevant selling entity that arise directly as a result of completion of the 
relevant transaction to dispose of the relevant asset, provided that any amounts of deferred consideration 
or earn-out shall not be counted towards such realisations until actually received by the relevant selling 
member of the Group.

Origo Partners PLC     December 2013

5         Other administrative expenses

Provision has been recognised only on receivables where it is considered there is a greater than 50% risk 
of failure.

2014
US$'000

2013
US$'000

Employee expenses (2,763) (3,952)
Professional fees (2,144) (2,133)
Including:
 - Audit fees (291) (288)
Depreciation expenses (44) (50)
Provision for bad debts* (803) (4,428)
Provision for financial guarantee contracts - (825)
Others (1,011) (1,913)
Total (6,765) (13,301)

*

*

**



Origo Partners Plc

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

6         Information regarding directors and employees

All employees of the Group have been transferred to and employed by Origo Advisors Ltd in January 
2015, which is controlled by entities whose ultimate beneficiaries include Niklas Ponnert (Director of the 
Company), Chris A Rynning  and Luke Leslie.

Management includes Mr. Chris A Rynning, the former Chief Executive Officer and Mr. Niklas Ponnert, 
the former Chief Financial Officer. 

Year ended 
31 December 2013

Year ended 
31 December 2012

Average number of employees of the Group* Number Number
Management** 2 2
Investment and transaction team 4 8
Finance and accounting 5 7
Administration and HR 3 6
Trading sales - 1
Geologists - 1

14 25
The aggregate payroll costs of these employees were as follows:  US$'000  US$'000 
Wages and salaries 2,632 3,724
Share-based payments 545 443
Social security costs 131 228

3,308 4,395
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7          Directors’ remuneration

Directors’ remuneration for the year 2013 and the number of options held were as follows:

2014
US$'000

2013
US$'000

Directors' emoluments 1,005 1,094
Share-based payment expenses 218 146

1,223 1,240

*

**
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hort term employee benefits

Share-based payment refers to expenses arising from the Company’s share option scheme (note 27).

Mr. Wang Chao Yong, Mr. Chris A Rynning, Mr. Christopher Jemmett and Mr. Tom Preststulen resigned as 
Directors of the Company in February 2015. The remaining directors of the Company are Shonaid Jemmett-
Page (Non-executive Chairman), Lionel de Saint-Exupery (Non-executive Director) and Niklas Ponnert 
(Director).

7          Directors’ remuneration (continued)

Directors’ remuneration for the year 2014 and the number of options held were as follows:

Directors’ remuneration for the year 2013 and the number of options held were as follows:

Name
Salaries* 
US$'000

Director Fee
US$'000

Share-based 
payment** 

US$'000
Total

US$'000

2012
Number of 

options
Mr. Wang Chao Yong 150 - (36) 114 4,000,000
Mr. Chris A Rynning 330 - 91 421 3,500,000
Mr. Niklas Ponnert 290 - 91 381 5,300,000
Mr. Christopher Jemmett - 111 - 111 100,000
Mr. Lionel de Saint Exupery - 75 - 75 -
Mr. Tom Preststulen - 75 - 75 -
Ms. Shonaid Jemmett Page - 63 - 63 -

770 324 146 1,240 12,900,000

Name
Salaries* 
US$'000

Director Fee
US$'000

Share-based 
payment** 

US$'000
Total

US$'000

2012
Number of 

options
Mr. Wang Chao Yong*** 75 - (18) 57 4,000,000
Mr. Chris A Rynning*** 330 - 118 448 3,500,000
Mr. Niklas Ponnert 300 - 118 418 5,300,000
Mr. Christopher Jemmett*** - 75 - 75 100,000
Mr. Lionel de saint Exupery - 75 - 75 -
Mr. Tom Preststulen*** - 75 - 75 -
Ms. Shonaid Jemmett Page - 75 - 75 -

705 300 218 1,223 12,900,000

8         Operating segment information

Operating segments are components of the entity whose results are regularly reviewed by the entity’s chief 
operating decision-maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its 
performance. The chief operating decision-maker for the Group is considered to be the Director. The Group’s 
operating segments have been defined based on the types of investments which was equity investment, debt 
instrument and partnership interest in 2014 and 2013.

*

**

***



Equity Debt Total Equity Debt Total 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Investment loss:

Realised losses on disposal of  
   investments (9,751) (3,867) (13,618) (895) - (895) (14,513)
Unrealised losses on 
   investments (19,657) (10,169) (29,826) (42) (210) (252) (30,078)
Share of gains of jointly 
   controlled entity - - - - - - -
Income from loans - 568 568 - 196 196 764

Dividends - - - 4 - 4 4

Total (29,408) (13,468) (42,876) (933) (14) (947) (43,823)

Net divestment/(investment)

Net proceeds of divestment 5,411 732 6,143 396 - 396 6,539

Investment - (2,121) (2,121) (565) - (565)  (2,686)

Balance sheet

Investment portfolio 88,860 26,761 115,621 2,457 2,138 4,595 120,216
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The Group’s geographical areas based on the location of investment assets (non-current assets), are defined 
primarily as China, Mongolia, South Africa and Europe, as presented in the following table.

Unlisted                                  	                  Listed                                        Total

8         Operating segment information (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2014

Europe China Mongolia Rest of Asia North 
America 

South
Africa Total 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Investment loss:

Realised losses on disposal of 
   investments (3,885)   (9,413) (1,103) (32) (80)  -   (14,513)
Unrealised losses on 
   investments (2,137) (4,647) (14,957) - - (8,337) (30,078)
Share of gains of jointly 
   controlled entity  -   -  -   - - -
Income from loans - 568 196 - - - 764

Dividends  -   - 4  -   - - 4

Total (6,022) (13,492) (15,860) (32) (80) (8,337) (43,823)

Net divestment/(investment)

Net proceeds of divestment  -   6,143 15 294 87 - 6,539

Investment (981) (1,140) (565)  -    -   - (2,686)

Balance sheet

Investment portfolio 1,494 90,197 26,677 - - 1,848 120,216
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8         Operating segment information (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2013

Equity Debt Total Equity Debt Total 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Investment loss:

Realised losses on disposal of  
   investments  (2,218)  (4,791)  (7,009)  (967)  -    (967)  (7,976)

Unrealised losses on 
   investments  (30,020)  (5,463)  (35,483)  (3,979)  (141)  (4,120)  (39,603)

Share of gains of jointly 
   controlled entity  7  -    7  -    -    -    7 

Income from loans
 -    734  734  -    211  211  945 

Dividends  -    -    -    80  -    80  80 

Total  (32,231)  (9,520) (41,751)  (4,866)  70  (4,796)  (46,547)

Net divestment/(investment)

Net proceeds of divestment - -  -    1,498 -  1,498  1,498 

Investment  (232)  (8,626)  (8,858)  (244) -  (244)  (9,102)

Balance sheet

Investment portfolio  108,449  39,408  147,857  3,632  2,348  5,980  153,837 

Unlisted                                  	                  Listed                                        Total

Europe China Mongolia Rest of Asia North 
America 

South
Africa Australia Total 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Investment income/(losses):

Realised (losses)/gains on 
   disposal of investments  -    85  (1,041)  -    (594)  -    (6,426)  (7,976)
Unrealised (losses)/gains on
    investments  (695)  (3,128)  (30,976)  327  (91)  (5,040)  -    (39,603)

Share of loss of jointly 
   controlled entity  -    7  -   - - -  7 

Income from loans
194 540 211 - - - -  945 

Dividends  -    63  17  -   - - -  80 

Total  (501)  (2,433)  (31,789)  327  (685)  (5,040)  (6,426)  (46,547)

Net

divestment/(investment)  -    -    818  -    680 -  -    1,498 

Net proceeds of divestment  (1,808)  -    (244)  -    -    (5,111)  (1,939)  (9,102)

Investment

Balance sheet  6,535  94,434  42,889  327  167  9,485  -    153,837 

Investment portfolio 5,423 112,686 75,484 - 1,535 9,414 4,487 209,029



Origo Partners Plc

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

35

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Origo Partners PLC     December 2013

10        Income tax  

As the Company is not in receipt of income from Manx land or property and does not hold a Manx banking 
licence, it is taxed at the standard rate of 0% on the Isle of Man. The company is resident for tax purposes in the 
Isle of Man and subject to corporate income tax at the standard rate of 0% and as such no provision for tax in 
the Isle of Man has been made. 

2014 2013
US$'000 US$'000

Finance income
Bank interest 18 431

18 431
Finance costs
Bank charges (40) (128)
Interest expenses of convertible zero 
  dividend preference shares (5,296) (434)

(5,336) (562)

9         Finance income and costs

The deferred income tax relates to fair value gain of Celadon Mining Ltd, Niutech Energy Ltd, Unipower 
Battery Ltd and Shanghai Yi Rui Tech New Energy Techonology Ltd, estimated in accordance with the 
relevant tax laws and regulations in the PRC based on a tax rate of 10%.

2014 2013
US$'000 US$'000

Current taxes
Current year (1) (3)
Deferred taxes
Deferred income taxes*    342 (21)
Total income taxes in the statement of comprehensive income      341 (24)

2014 2013
US$'000 US$'000

Loss before tax (57,891)      (67,770)

Profit before tax multiplied by rate of corporate income tax in the Isle 
  of Man of 0% (2013: 0%) -
Effects of:
Current tax on realised gains on investments  (1) (3)
Deferred tax on unrealised gains on investments  342 (21)

Total income taxes in the statement of comprehensive income 341 (24)

*	

The tax expense for the year can be reconciled per the statement of comprehensive income as follows:
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Deferred income taxes

2014 2013
US$'000 US$'000

Opening deferred income tax liability
Income in accounts taxable in the future 2,830 2,809

2,830 2,809

Recognised through statement of comprehensive income
Income in accounts taxable in the future (342) 21

(342) 21

Closing deferred income tax liability
Income in accounts taxable in the future 2,488 2,830

2,488 2,830

11        Earnings per share

2014 2013
Numerator US$'000 US$'000
Loss for the period attributable to owners of the parent
    as used in the calculation of basic loss per share (62,357) (57,533)
Loss for the period attributable to owners of the parent
    as used in the calculation of diluted loss per share (57,533) (68,249)

 2014
Number of 

shares

2013
Number of 

sharesDenominator
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic LPS 348,612,786 348,560,156
Effect of dilution:
   Share options -
   Convertible preference shares -
Weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted for the effect of dilution 348,612,786 348,560,156
Basic LPS (17.89) cents (16.51) cents
Diluted LPS (17.89) cents (16.51) cents
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12        Property, plant and equipment

Fixtures and 
fittings

US$'000

Computer 
equipment

US$'000
Vehicles
US$'000

Machinery 
equipment

US$'000
Total 

US$'000
Cost
At 1 January 2013 39 119 64                 48 270 
Additions 3 11 89 - 103
Disposal - (2) - - (2)
At 31 December 2013 42 128 153 48 371
Additions 1 3 - - 4
Disposal (43) (116) - - (159)
At 31 December 2014 - 15 153 48 216

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2013 31 71 16                28 146 
Charge for the year 2013 4 16 15 16 51
Disposal - (1) - - (1)
At 31 December 2013 35 86 31 44 196
Charge for the year 2014 1 9 27 4 41
Disposal (36) (81) - - (117)
At 31 December 2014 - 14 58 48 120

Net book value
At 31 December 2013 7 42 122 4 175
At 31 December 2014 - 1 95 - 96

13       Investments in subsidiaries

The principal subsidiaries of the Group, all of which have been included in these consolidated financial 
statements are as follows: 

Name
Country of 

incorporation

Proportion of 
ownership interest 

at 31 December 2014

Proportion of 
ownership interest 

at 31 December 2013
Ascend Ventures Ltd Malaysia 100% 100%
Origo Resource Partners Ltd Guernsey 100% 100%
PHI International Holding Ltd Bermuda 100% 100%
Origo Partners MGL LLC  Mongolia 100% 100%
PHI International (Bermuda) Holding Ltd* Bermuda 100% 100%
Ascend (Beijing) Consulting Ltd** China 100% 100%
Origo Asset Management Ltd Cayman 100% 100%
China Venture Capital GP Ltd Cayman 100% 100%
China Cleantech Partners, L.P. *** Cayman 100% 62%
China Commodities Absolute Return Ltd Isle of Man 95.3% 90.7%
ISAK International Holding Ltd** British Virgin Islands 71.2% 71.2%
China Venture Capital AMC Ltd*** Cayman - 70%
China CleanTech AMC Ltd**** Cayman - 50%
China CleanTech GP Ltd**** Cayman - 50%
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Owned by Origo Resource Partners Ltd

Owned by Ascend Ventures Ltd

China Cleantech Partners, L.P. Fund was closed for total consideration of US$10.5 million, of which US$9.9 
million has been received in cash, and the remaining balance expected to be disbursed in 2015. The 
assets and liabilities of the disposed entities at the date of disposal were cash of US$30.0 million, internal 
shareholder loan of US$9.8 million and other payables of US$0.8 million.

Struck off****	

***	

**	

*

14       Investments at fair value through profit or loss

As at 31 December 2014

Name*
Country of 

incorporation

Fair
 Value 

hierarchy 
level

Proportion 
of ownership

interest
Cost

US$’000

Fair 
value

US$’000
TPL GmbH***** Germany 3 54.8% 18 -
IRCA Holdings Ltd.  British Virgin Islands 3 49.1%        9,505              -   
Shanghai Yi Rui Tech New Energy 
   Tecnology Ltd  China 3 49.0%    675 695 

Resources Investment Capital Ltd.  British Virgin Islands 3 38.5% 287 - 
Roshini International Bio Energy 
   Corporation  British Virgin Islands 

                              
3 35.9% 17,050 -   

China Rice Ltd  British Virgin Islands              3 32.1% 13,000   12,027
Kincora Copper Ltd***  Canada              1 26.3%   7,389     1,755 
R.M.Williams Agricultural Holdings Pty Ltd  Australia 3 24.0% 20,214 -   
Niutech Energy Ltd  British Virgin Islands              3 21.1%  6,350   11,891 
Moly World Ltd  British Virgin Islands              3 20.0% 10,000 8,688 
Unipower Battery Ltd  Cayman Islands               3 16.5%   4,301   12,053 
Fans Media Co., Ltd  British Virgin Islands            3 14.3%  2,360             -   
Gobi Coal & Energy Ltd***  British Virgin Islands               3 14.0% 14,960 13,394 
Celadon Mining Ltd  British Virgin Islands             3 9.7% 13,069 24,634 
Staur Aqua AS  Norway              3 9.2%      719        43 
Ares Resources  Mongolia           3 5.0%      148          - 
Bach Technology GmbH  Germany          3 2.5%    60         -   
Rising Technology Corporation Ltd/
   Beijing Rising Information Technology Ltd **  British Virgin Islands 3

2%/
1.6% 5,565 3,174

Kooky Panda Ltd  Cayman Islands            3 1.2%    25              -   
Six Waves Inc  British Virgin Islands              3 1.1%     240     804 
Marula Mines Ltd South Africa 3 0.9% 250 501
Fram Exploration AS  Norway             3 0.6%   1,202        956 
Other quoted investments***  1 2,296    691 

129,683 91,306
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14       Investments at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

As at 31 December 2013

Name*
Country of 

incorporation

Fair
 Value 

hierarchy 
level

Proportion 
of ownership

interest
Cost

US$’000

Fair 
value

US$’000
TPL GmbH***** Germany 3 54.8% 18 19
Trafigura Origo Joint Venture LLC ***** Mongolia 3 50.0% 400 -
IRCA Holdings Ltd British Virgin Islands 3 49.1% 9,505 -
Shanghai Yi Rui Tech New Energy  
   Tecnology Ltd China 3 49.0% 675 697
Resources Investment Capital Ltd British Virgin Islands 3 38.5% 287 287
Roshini International Bio Energy 
   Corporation British Virgin Islands 3 35.9% 17,050 -
Kincora Copper Ltd***  Canada               3 34.0% 6,824 1,601 
China Rice Ltd British Virgin Islands              3 32.1% 13,000 17,259 
R.M. Williams Agricultural Holdings Pty Ltd Australia               3 24.0%    20,214  -   
Niutech Energy Ltd British Virgin Islands              3 21.1% 6,350  12,083 
Moly World Ltd British Virgin Islands               3 20.0% 10,000 10,000 
Unipower Battery Ltd Cayman Islands             3 16.5% 4,301   9,984 
Fans Media Co., Ltd British Virgin Islands      3 14.3% 2,360     -   
Gobi Coal & Energy Ltd*** British Virgin Islands               3 14.0% 14,960 26,788 
Celadon Mining Ltd British Virgin Islands    3 9.7% 13,069 25,689 
Staur Aqua AS Norway          3 9.2%    719      245 
Ares Resources Mongolia            3 4.8%   148              - 
Bach Technology GmbH Germany             3 2.5%       60            -   
Rising Technology Corporation Ltd/
   Beijing Rising Information Technology Ltd** British Virgin Islands 3

2%/
1.6% 5,565 3,009

Kooky Panda Ltd  Cayman Islands          3 1.2%    25           -   
Six Waves Inc British Virgin Islands          3 1.1% 240   1,203 
Marula Mines South Africa 3 0.8% 250 700
Fram Exploration AS  Norway          3 0.7%    1,202      860 
HaloSource, INC.  USA           1 0.3%     525      167 
Rex International Holding  Singapore          3 0.1%     217     326 
Other quoted investments*** 1 3,260     1,055 
Total 131,224 111,972

There are no significant restrictions that will have an impact on ability to transfer of these investments.

2% equity stake in Rising Technology Corporation Ltd and 1.6% beneficial interest in Beijing Rising 
Information Technology Ltd, a company incorporated in the PRC, under a nominee agreement.

Investments held partially by China Commodities Absolute Return Ltd (”CCF”), the fund managed by 
the Group. 

A company focusing on mineral and metal exploration, jointly formed and co-managed by the Group 
and Eltrana LLC on 50/50 basis.

*	

**	

***	

****	
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As at 31 December 2014 the proportion of ownership interest held by CCF in investments is as follows:

14       Investments at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

In accordance with IFRS 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures, financial instruments recognised at fair value are 
required to be analysed between those whose fair value is based on:

Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1);
Those involving inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices) (Level 2); and
Those with inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 
inputs) (Level 3).

In accordance with IFRS 13: For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements on a 
recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-
assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a 
whole) at the end of each reporting period. There have been transfers between Levels during the period of 2014.

Statement of changes in Investments at fair value through profit or loss based on level 3:

Name* Proportion of ownership interest
Cost

US$’000
Fair value

US$’000
Kincora Copper Ltd 2.3% 1,063 153
Gobi Coal & Energy Ltd 0.2% 252 226

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

Opening balance 110,750         160,483 
Acquisitions -                 456 
Proceeds from disposals of investments (294)                     -   
Realised losses on disposals of investments (32) -
Decrease upon the consolidation of CCP LP -             (14,911)   
Realised losses on write-off of investments (306)            (2,035) 
Net exchange difference (1,692)                 516
Movement in unrealised losses on investments                        
- In profit or loss (17,965)          (33,759) 
Transfers out of Level 3****** (1,601) -
Closing balance 88,860         110,750 

a)	
b)	

c)	

A company focusing on cleantech sectors, jointly formed and co-managed by the Group and Niutech 
Energy Solutions B.V.

*****	

*****	 All shares in Kincora Copper Ltd were released from escrow in July 2014. The fair value of 
investment was based on quoted market price at 31 December 2014.

The fair value decrease on investments categorised within Level 3 of US$19,994,687 (2013: US$35,278,437), 
was recorded in the statement of profit or loss.
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14       Investments at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

Description of significant unobservable inputs to valuation:

as at 31 December 2014

as at 31 December 2013

Valuation 
technique

Significant 
unobservable inputs Range

Investments in unquoted equity shares - 
metal & mining sector DCF method WACC 13.85% - 15%

Discount for lack of 
mar-ketability 20% - 30%

Investments in unquoted equity shares - 
metal & mining sector Multiples method

Discount for lack of 
mar-ketability 20% - 30%

Investments in unquoted equity shares - 
cleantech sector Multiples method

Discount for lack of 
mar-ketability 30%

Investments in unquoted equity shares - 
agriculture sector Multiples method

Discount for lack of 
mar-ketability 30%

Investments in unquoted equity shares - 
TMT sector Multiples method

Discount for lack of 
mar-ketability 30%

Kincora Copper Ltd***  Canada               3 34.0%

Valuation 
technique

Significant 
unobservable inputs Range

Investments in unquoted equity shares - 
metal & mining sector DCF method WACC 15% - 18%

Discount for lack of 
mar-ketability 20% - 30%

Investments in unquoted equity shares - 
cleantech sector Multiples method

Discount for lack of 
mar-ketability 30%

Investments in unquoted equity shares - 
agriculture sector Multiples method

Discount for lack of 
mar-ketability 30%

Investments in unquoted equity shares - 
TMT sector Multiples method

Discount for lack of 
mar-ketability 30%

Risk management activities

Fair value risk

The Group’s financial assets are predominantly investments in unquoted companies, and the fair value of each 
investment depends upon a combination of market factors and the performance of the underlying asset. The 
Group does not hedge the market risk inherent in the portfolio but manage asset performance risk on an asset-
specific basis by continuously monitoring each asset’s performance and charging the change of each asset’s fair 
value to the statement of comprehensive income as necessary. The Group believes that the carrying amount is a 
reasonable approximation of fair value for their financial assets and liabilities.
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14       Investments at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

Risk management activities (continued)

Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group currently views interest rate risk as low since the fixed rate return from interest generating assets is 
not material in the context of the portfolio return as a whole and the Group’s investments are financed mainly by 
shareholders’ funds with investment needs being met ahead of planned investments.
Valuation techniques 

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded securities) is based on 
quoted market prices at the reporting date. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group 
is the current closing price. 

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation 
techniques. The Group has estimated the value of each of its unquoted equity instruments by using judgement 
to select the most appropriate valuation methodology for each investment based on the recommendations of the 
International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation Guidelines. Valuation methodologies mainly include 
the price of recent investments, multiples, discounted cash flows or earnings, industry valuation benchmarks, 
available market prices and so on, which may apply individually or in combination. Key assumptions and 
judgements of each methodology concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty will have 
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the fair value of the instruments within the next reporting 
period.  

15       Loans

The Group has entered into convertible credit agreements and has the right to convert the outstanding 
principal balance of relevant loans into borrower’s shares according to certain conversion conditions, and loan 
agreements with certain investee companies as set forth in the table below.

As at 31 December 2014	 				  

Borrower

Fair 
value 

hierarchy
 level

Loan
rates

%

Loan
 principal

US$'000

Loans
 due

within
one year
US$'000

Loans  
due

 after 
one year
US$'000

Fair 
value

US$'000
Convertible credit agreements*
  China Rice Ltd 3  4  15,000 15,000 -  15,000 
  Unipower Battery Ltd 3  6  9,000 9,000 -  9,000 
  IRCA Holdings Ltd 3 1.5-8 11,645 764 - 764 
  R.M. Williams Agricultural Holdings Pty Ltd 3  8-20 3,090 - - -
  Staur Aqua AS 3  0-15 3,848 267 228 495
  Kincora Copper Ltd 3 8.7  2,469 2,138 -  2,138 
  Roshini International Bio Energy Corporation 3 -  424 - -    - 
Sub-total 45,476 27,169 228 27,397
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Borrower

Loan
rates

%

Loan
 principal

US$'000

Loans
 due

within
one year
US$'000

Loans  
due

 after 
one year
US$'000

Amortised 
cost

US$'000
Loan agreements*
  IRCA Holdings Ltd 6-10  8,909 158 425 583 
  TPL GmbH 10 3,807 - - - 

  R.M.William Agricultural Holdings Pty Ltd 15.5+RBA 
cash rate  1,725  -    -    -   

  Shanghai Evtech New Energy Technology Ltd -  510 510 -  510 
  China Silvertone Investment Co Ltd -  478 - -    - 
  View Step Corporation Ltd -  25 - -    - 
Sub-total 15,863 1,077 425 1,502
Total 61,339 28,246 653 28,899

15       Loans (continued)

Loans in relation to convertible credit agreements are measured at fair value. Loans in relation to loan 
agreements are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any identified 
impairment losses. There are no breaches under the terms and conditions of loan agreements.

The valuation methodology has been changed from multiples method to the price of recent investment. The 
recent management buy-out transaction price is deemed to be the best indication of fair value.

*	

**	

Borrower

Fair 
value 

hierarchy
 level

Loan
rates

%

Loan
 principal

US$'000

Loans
 due

within
one year
US$'000

Loans  
due

 after 
one year
US$'000

Fair 
value

US$'000
Convertible credit agreements*
  China Rice Ltd 3  4  15,000 15,000 -  15,000 
  Unipower Battery Ltd 3  6  9,000 9,000 -  9,000 
  IRCA Holdings Ltd 3 1.5-8 11,645 5,374 - 5,374 
  R.M. Williams Agricultural Holdings Pty Ltd 3  8-20 3,090 - - -
  Staur Aqua AS 3  0-15 3,848 740 1,786 2,526
  Kincora Copper Ltd 3 8.7  2,469 - 2,348  2,348 
  Roshini International Bio Energy 
     Corporation 3 -  424 - -    - 
Sub-total 45,476 30,114 4,134 34,248 

As at 31 December 2013



Borrower

Loan
rates

%

Loan
 principal

US$'000

Loans
 due

within
one year
US$'000

Loans  
due

 after 
one year
US$'000

Amortised 
cost

US$'000
Loan agreements*
  IRCA Holdings Ltd 6-10  8,909 1,102 3,009 4,111 

   R.M. Williams Agricultural Holdings Pty Ltd 15.5+RBA 
cash rate  1,725  -    -    -   

  TPL GmbH 10 2,827 - 2,887  2,887 
  Shanghai Evtech New Energy 
     Technology Ltd -  510 510 -  510 

  China Silvertone Investment Co Ltd  -  478 - -    - 
  View Step Corporation Ltd -  25 - -    - 
Sub-total 14,474 1,612  5,896 7,508 
Total 59,950 31,726 10,030 41,756 
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15       Loans (continued)

As at 31 December 2013

Statement of changes in loans:

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

Opening balance 34,248 39,501
Additions - -
Write-offs - (3,066)
Movement in unrealised losses on investments
 - In profit or loss  (6,851) (2,027)
Decrease upon the consolidation of CCP LP - (160)
Closing balance 27,397 34,248

Statement of changes in convertible credit agreements based on level 3:			 

The fair value decrease on convertible credit agreements categorised within level 3 of US$6,851,090 (2013: 
US$5,093,569), was recorded in the statement of profit or loss.

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

Opening balance 41,756 43,462
Additions 2,121 8,626
Repayment (732) -
Write-offs (3,867) (4,791)
Revaluation (10,379) (5,381)
Decrease upon the consolidation of CCP LP - (160)
Closing balance 28,899 41,756 
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17       Other current assets		

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

Opening balance 109 927
Expired - (249)
Movement in unrealised losses on investments
- In profit or loss  (98) (569)
Closing balance 11 109

2014 2013

Fair value 
hierarchy 

level
Cost

US$’000
Fair value

US$’000
Cost

US$’000
Fair value

US$’000
Other financial assets
    Short-term investment* 3 - - 3,280 3,280
    Structured deposits** 3 - - 4,921 4,921
Others - - 4 4
Total - - 8,205 8,205

In accordance with the fair value hierarchy described in note 14, derivative financial instruments are measured 
using level 3 for warrants. 

Statement of changes in derivative financial assets based on level 3:

The fair value decreases on derivative financial instruments categorised within level 3 of US$97,701 (2013: 
US$817,531), was recorded in the statement of profit or loss.

A 38 days short term investment of RMB20 million placed with Bank of Communications by Origo (Xinxiang) 
Renewable Energy Investment Center LP which is one of subsidiaries of the Group, with the interest rate at 
5.1 per cent p.a, the maturity date is January 20, 2014.

A 66 days structured deposit of RMB30 million placed with China MinSheng Bank by Origo (Xinxiang) 
Renewable Energy Investment Center LP, with the interest rate linked to USD 3 Month Libor rate, the 
maturity date is February 7, 2014.

*	

**	

18       Trade and other receivables

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

Trade debtors 4 4
Other debtors 1,382 1,023
Loan interest receivables 2,127 2,204
Prepayments 383 173
Total 3,896 3,404

16       Derivative financial assets 	

Fair Value 
hierarchy level

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

Warrants 3 11 109
Total 11 109
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18       Trade and other receivables (continued)

Aging for the Group

0-30 
days

US$'000

31-60 
days

US$'000

61-90
 days

US$'000

91-180 
days

US$'000

181-365
 days

US$'000

Over 365 
days

US$'000
Total

US$'000
Trade debtors - - - - - 4 4
Other debtors 645 10 - 104 312 2,895 3,966
Loan interest receivables 136 124 127 404 721 8,784 10,296
Other 273 - 7 37 7 59 383
Provision against loan   
   interest receivables (25) (79) (81) (238) (451) (7,295) (8,169)
Provision of bad debts - (10) - (27) (5) (2,542) (2,584)
Total 1,029 45 53 280 584 1,905 3,896
Percentage 27% 1% 1% 7% 15% 49% 100%

2013 Aging for the Group

Aging for the Group

0-30 
days

US$'000

31-60 
days

US$'000

61-90
 days

US$'000

91-180 
days

US$'000

181-365
 days

US$'000

Over 365 
days

US$'000
Total

US$'000
Trade debtors - - - - - 254 254
Other debtors 11  18  174  236  253  2,384 3,076 
Loan interest receivables  221  98  101  386  645  7,423  8,874 
Other  1  -    -    88  4  80  173 
Provision against loan    
   interest receivables  (51)  (54)  (55)  (159)  (309)  (6,042)  (6,670) 
Provision of bad debts -  -   (153)  (134)  (104)  (1,912)  (2,303) 
Total  182  62  67  417  489  2,187 3,404
Percentage 5% 2% 2% 12% 15% 64% 100%

2014 Aging for the Group

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

Current account 5,185 35,300
Total cash and cash equivalents 5,185 35,300

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

Short-term borrowings - 160
Total short-term borrowings - 160

19       Cash and cash equivalents and Short-term borrowings
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Refer to note 4 for total performance incentive expenses.

In May 2011, the Group entered into a guarantee agreement maturing in April 2014 with IRCA Holdings 
Ltd and Mr. Malcolm Stephen Paul to guarantee the repayment of loans of up to GBP500,000 extended by 
Mr. Malcolm Stephen Paul to IRCA Holdings Ltd. The Group has settled GBP500,000 of guarantee to Mr. 
Malcolm Stephen Paul in 2014

The provision relates to the fair value of USR and contingent share awards granted to certain directors, 
executives and key employees under the Company's joint share ownership scheme. Further details about 
the USR and contingent share awards are included in note 27. 

Refer to note 4 for total performance incentive expenses.

*	

*	

*	

**	

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

Trade payables 2 2
Other payables 1,247 1,815
Performance incentive payable within one year* 8 233
Total 1,257 2,050

Fair value 
hierarchy leve

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

Financial guarantee contracts* 3 - 825
Total - 825

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

Opening balance 1,787 5,080
Movement in USR/contingent share awards * 132 (202)
Movement in performance incentive provision** 5,782 (3,091)
Total 7,701 1,787

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

USR/contingent share awards * 297 165
Performance incentive provision** 7,404 1,622
Total 7,701 1,787

20        Trade and other payables

21       Financial guarantee contracts

22       Provision
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23       Liability component of convertible zero dividend preference shares

On 8 March 2011, the Company issued 60 million Convertible Zero Dividend Preference Shares (“Convertible 
Preference Shares” or “CZDP”) at a price of US$1.00 per share. The Convertible Preference Shares have a 
maturity period of five years from the issue date and can be converted into 1 ordinary share of the Company 
at the conversion price of US$0.95 per share at the holder’s option at any time between more than 40 dealing 
days after 8 March 2011 up to 5 dealing days prior to the maturity date and, if it has not been converted, it will 
be redeemed on maturity at the redemption price of US$1.28 per share (representing a gross redemption yield 
of 5% per annum at issue).  

The Convertible Preference Shares contain a redemption feature which allows for early redemption at the 
option of issuer. The issuer has the option to redeem all or some of the Convertible Preference Shares subject 
to the restrictions on redemption described below:

at any time after the second anniversary of 8 March 2011, for a cash sum of US$1.28 per Convertible 
Preference Share redeemed;

at any time after the second anniversary of 8 March 2011, if in any period of 30 consecutive dealing days 
the closing middle market price of the ordinary shares of the Company exceeds US$1.235 per ordinary 
share of the Company on 20 or more of those days, for a cash sum equal to the Accreted Principal 
Amount in respect of the Convertible Preference Shares being redeemed;

at any time, if less than 15% of the Convertible Preference Shares remain outstanding, for a cash sum 
equal to the Accreted Principal Amount in respect of the Convertible Preference Shares being redeemed.
 

Number of
shares

Liability 
component

US$'000

Equity 
component

US$'000

Early 
redemption 

option 
derivative 

US$'000
Balance at 1 January 2013 60,000,000 60,877 7,462 -
Interest expenses on convertible zero dividend 
   preference shares - 950 - -
Balance at 18 March 2013 60,000,000 61,827 7,462 -
Restructure (3,000,000) (7,195) 835 (2)
Interest expenses on convertible zero dividend   
   preference shares - 3,681 - -
Fair value movement of early redemption option 
   derivative - - - 2
Balance at 18 March 2013 60,000,000 61,827 7,462 -
Interest expenses on convertible zero dividend 
   preference shares - 5,296 - -
Fair value movement of early redemption option 
   derivative - - - -
Balance at 31 December 2014 57,000,000 63,609 8,297 -

(a)

(b)

(c)
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The Convertible Preference Shares contain three components, a liability component, an equity component 
and the early redemption option derivative. The effective interest rate of the liability component is 6.5%. The 
early redemption option derivative is presented as derivative financial assets in the consolidated statement 
of financial position and is measured at fair value subsequent to initial recognition with changes in fair value 
recognised in profit and loss.

In March 2013, the Company restructured the terms of its existing Convertible Preference Shares, the 
principal terms of restructure includes: i) extension of the maturity date of the Convertible Preference Shares 
by 18 months from 8 March 2016 to 8 September 2017 (the “Extended Period”); ii) amendment of the final 
capital value (“FCV”) of the Convertible Preference Shares to US$1.41 each, with the accrued rate of return 
for the Extended Period equivalent to 10 per cent of the accrued value of the Convertible Preference Shares at 
the start of the Extended Period; iii) a commitment by the Company to repurchase, by means of tender offers 
to holders, at least 12 million Convertible Preference Shares by 8 March 2016, the original maturity date; and 
iv) the Company to set aside, for the funding of Convertible Preference Shares tender offers, 50 per cent of 
the next US$24 million of net proceeds (post transaction costs and management incentives) from investment 
realisations by the Company. The new effective interest rate of the liability component is 9.0%. In addition to 
the restructure, the Company has repurchased 3 million Convertible Preference Shares from holders at a price 
of US$1.00 per Convertible Preference Shares. Finance cost of US$4.2 million was credited to reverse the 
liability component after the payoff of US$3 million of cash for repurchase.

Origo Partners PLC     December 2013

24      Issued capital

25       Other reserve 

Included within the other reserve are 8,061,425 shares of the Company held by Employee Benefit Trust (“EBT”). 

Authorised

2014
Number of 

shares £'000

2013
Number of 

shares £'000
Ordinary shares of £ 0.0001 each 500,000,000 50 500,000,000 50

Issued and fully paid
Number of 

shares US$'000
Number of 

shares US$'000
At beginning of the year 356,706,814 55 356,986,814 55
Buyback shares - - (280,000) -
At end of the year 356,706,814 55 356,706,814 55
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26        Financial instruments - Risk management

The Group and the Company are exposed through their operations to one or more of the following risks:

-	    Fair value risk
-	    Cash flow interest rate risk
-	    Currency risk
-	    Credit risk
-     Liquidity risk
-	    Concentration risk
-	    Sensitivity risk of financial assets based at level 3

The policy for managing these risks is set by the board. The policy for each of the above risks is described in 
more detail below:

Fair value risk

The Group and Company’s financial assets are predominantly investments in unquoted companies, and the fair 
value of each investment depends upon a combination of market factors and the performance of the underlying 
asset. The Group and the Company do not hedge the market risk inherent in the portfolio but manages asset 
performance risk on an asset-specific basis by continuously monitoring each asset’s performance and charging 
the change of each asset’s fair value to the statement of comprehensive income as necessary. 

Cash flow interest rate risk

The directors currently view interest rate risk as low since the fixed rate return from interest generating assets is 
not material in the context of the portfolio return as a whole and the Group’s investments are financed mainly by 
shareholders’ funds with investment needs being met ahead of planned investments.

Currency risk

Some of the Group’s assets, liabilities, income and expenses are effectively denominated in currencies other 
than US Dollars (the Group’s presentation currency). Fluctuations in the exchanges rates between these 
currencies and US Dollars will have an effect on the reported value of those items. 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s profit before tax due to a change in the fair value 
of monetary assets and liabilities resulting from a reasonably possible change in the US dollar exchange rate, 
with all other variables held constant.

The assumed movement for currency rate sensitivity analysis is based on the currently observable market 
environment.

Increase/
(decrease) in 

USD rate

Effect on
profit

before tax
US$'000

Effect on
NAV

US$'000
2014 +10% 3,125 3,125

-10% (3,125) (3,125)
2013 +10% 5,025 5,025

-10% (5,025) (5,025)
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26       Financial instruments - Risk management (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

The Group’s assets and liabilities that are effectively denominated in currencies other than US Dollars are:

Credit risk

The Group is primarily exposed to credit risk from the convertible loans extended to unquoted portfolio 
companies, in which the Directors consider the maximum credit risk to be the carrying value of the convertible 
loans and loans which amounted to US$28.9 million. Directors consider cash and receivables do not expose to 
significant credit risk, because the cash is held at reputable banks. The credit risk exposure is managed on an 
asset-specific basis by management.

2014 GBP
US$'000

NOK
US$'000

RMB
US$'000

AUD
US$'000

HKD 
US$'000

CAD
US$'000

Total
US$'000

Cash and bank balances 29 50 38 12 50 13 192
Investment at FVTPL 24,802 999 695 - - 2,279 28,775
Loans 37 495 930 - - 2,138 3,600
Trade and other receivables - - 317 - - 83 400
Derivative assets - - - - 12 12
Total Assets 24,868 1,544 1,980 12 50 4,525 32,979
Trade and other payables (171) - (101) - - - (272)
Provision (297) - - - - - (297)
Deferred income tax liability (1,157) - (2) - - - (1,159)
Total Liabilities (1,625) - (103) - - - (1,728)

2013 GBP
US$'000

NOK
US$'000

RMB
US$'000

AUD
US$'000

HKD 
US$'000

CAD
US$'000

EUR
US$'000

Total
US$'000

Cash and bank balances 429 64 5,045 19 51 116 -   5,724
Investment at FVTPL 25,984 1,431 697 -   -   2,362 19   30,493
Loans 254 2,526 622 -   -   2,348 1,587 7,337
Other current assets - - 8,204 - - - - 8,204
Trade and other receivables -   416 380 -   -   90 66 952
Derivative assets - - - - - 109 - 109
Total Assets 26,667 4,437 14,948 19 51 5,025 1,672 52,819
Trade and other payables (180) -   (140) -   -   -   -   (320)
Financial guarantee contracts (825) - - - - - - (825)
Provision (165) - - - - - - (165)
Deferred income tax liability (1,262) - - - - - - (1,262)
Total Liabilities (2,432) -   (140) -   -   -   -   (2,572)

2014 2014 2014 2014 2013 2013 2013 2013

not 
past due
US$'000

up 
to 12 

months 
past due
US$'000

more 
than 12 
months 

past due
US$'000

Total
US$'000

not 
past due
US$'000

up
 to 12 

months 
past due
US$'000

more 
than 12 
months 

past due
US$'000

Total
US$'000

Convertible loan 2,366 - 25,031 27,397  4,134  1,200  28,914  34,248 
Working capital loan 425 556 521 1,502  6,919  49  540  7,508 
Total 2,791 556 25,552 28,899  11,053  1,249  29,454  41,756 
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26       Financial instruments - Risk management (continued)

Liquidity risk

The table below analyses the Group’s financial assets and liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on 
the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date or, if earlier, the expected date on 
which the financial assets will be realised and the financial liabilities will be settled. The amounts in the table are 
the contractual undiscounted cash flows. 

Assets
Less than 1 

month
1-3 

months
3-12 

months
over 12 
months  Total

31 December 2014  US$'000  US$'000 US$'000 US$'000  US$'000 
Cash and cash equivalents 5,185 - - - 5,185
Trade receivables - - - 4 4
Other receivables 1,225 1 - 156 1,382
Loan interest receivables 2,044 - 83 - 2,127
Derivative financial assets 11 - - - 11
Loans 26,107 - 2,139 653 28,899
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 535 1,756 - 89,015 91,306
Total 35,107 1,757 2,222 89,828 128,914

Liabilities
Less than 1 

month
1-3 

months
3-12 

months
over 12 
months  Total

31 December 2014  US$'000  US$'000 US$'000 US$'000  US$'000 
Trade payables 2 - - - 2
Performance incentive paya-ble - - 8 7,404 7,412
USR/Contingent share awards 297 - - - 297
Other payables 361 378 - 508 1,247
Liability component of con-vertible zero 
dividend pref-erence shares - - - 57,000 57,000

Contractual interest payable - - - 16,843 16,843
Total 660 378 8 81,755 82,801
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26       Financial instruments - Risk management (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Assets
Less than 1 

month
1-3 

months
3-12 

months
over 12 
months  Total

31 December 2013  US$'000  US$'000 US$'000 US$'000  US$'000 
Cash and cash equivalents 35,300 -   -   -   35,300
Other current assets 3,284 4,921 - - 8,205
Trade receivables -   -   -   4 4
Other receivables 957 -   -   66 1,023
Loan interest receivables 1,905 -   90 209 2,204
Derivative financial assets 109 -   -   - 109
Loans 30,624  -     1,102 10,030 41,756
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 1,766  1,928  -   108,278  111,972
Total 73,945 6,849   1,192 118,587 200,573

Liabilities
Less than 1 

month
1-3 

months
3-12 

months
over 12 
months  Total

31 December 2013  US$'000  US$'000 US$'000 US$'000  US$'000 
Trade payables 2 -   -   -   2
Short-term borrow-ing/Convertible loan -   -   -   160 160
Performance incentive paya-ble -   -   233 1,622 1,855
USR/Contingent share awards 165 -   -   - 165
Other payables 315 989 -   511 1,815
Liability component of con-vertible zero 
dividend pref-erence shares -   -   -   57,000 57,000
Contractual interest payable -   -   -   10,694 10,694
Financial guarantee con-tracts* - - 825 645 1,470
Total 482 989 1,058 70,632 73,161

*  Based on the maximum amount that can be called for under a payment guarantee agreement (note 21).

Concentration risk 

The main concentration risk for Origo is that the largest investments are concentrated in Mongolia for the amount 
of US$ 22,082,098 (Gobi US$13,393,992 and Moly US$8,688,106), 18% out of the total portfolio value of US$ 
120,216,267.

Sensitivity risk of financial assets based at Level 3

Level 3 inputs are sensitive to assumptions made when ascertaining fair value of financial assets. A reasonable 
alternative assumption would be to apply a standard marketability discount of 25% for all assets rather than 
the specific approach adopted. This would have a positive impact on the portfolio of US$2,310,225 (2013: 
US$3,934,845) or 1.99% (2013: 2.72%) of total financial assets based at level 3.
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27       Share option scheme

The Group has a number of share schemes that allow employees to acquire shares in the Company, as detailed 
in note 1.4 (h).

The total cost recognised in the statement of comprehensive income is shown below:

The weighted average remaining contractual life for the share options outstanding as at 31 December 2014 was 
4.56 years (31 December 2013: 5.73 years).

The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at the end of the year was 20 pence to 59.85 pence (31 
December 2013: 20 pence to 59.85 pence).

Outstanding options include 6,800,000, 3,500,000, 500,000 and 13,600,000 equity-settled options granted on 
26 October 2006, 13 March 2008, 6 February 2009 and 2 February 2012 respectively to certain directors and 
employees of the Company and 651,932 equity-settled options granted on 21 December 2006 to Seymour 
Pierce Ltd, the Company’s former nominated adviser. The Company did not enter into any share-based 
transactions with parties other than employees during the years from 2007 to 2014, except as described above. 

The following table illustrates the number (“No.”) and weighted average exercise prices (“WAEP”) of, and 
movements in USRs and contingent share awards during the years ended 31 December 2014 and 31 December 
2013.

2014 2014 2013 2013

No. WAEP No. WAEP
Outstanding at 1 January 23,001,932 27.24p 23,501,932 27.32p
Granted during the year - - - -
Forfeited during the year (1,550,000) (31.00p) (500,000) (31.00p)
Exercised during the year - - - -
Expired during the year - - - -
Outstanding at 31 December 21,451,932 26.97p 23,001,932 27.24p

Exercisable at 31 December 11,451,932 23.45p 11,451,932 23.45p

2014
US$'000

2013
US$'000

Equity-settled option (406) (632)
USR/contingent share awards (139) 189
Total (545) (443)

The following table illustrates the number (“No.”) and weighted average exercise prices (“WAEP”) of, and 
movements in, share options during the years ended 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013. 
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The volatility assumption, measured at the standard deviation of expected share price returns, was based on a 
statistical analysis of the Company’s daily share prices from 1 January 2012 to 31 December 2014 using source 
data from Reuters.

20143 2013
Underlying stock price (pence) 6.13 7.38
Exercise price (pence) 15.5 15.5
Expected life of option (years) 2 2
Expected volatility (%) 45.82 45.05
Expected dividend yield (%) - -
Risk-free interest rate (%) 1.18 1.20

2013 2013 2012 2012

No. WAEP No. WAEP
Outstanding at 1 January 5,688,067 12.85p 5,788,067 12.63p
Granted during the year 2,423,358 - - -
Forfeited during the year - - - -
Exercised during the year (50,000)* - (100,000)** -
Expired during the year - - - -
Outstanding at the end of the year 8,061,425 9.07p 5,688,067 12.85p

Exercisable at the end of the year 8,061,425 9.07p 5,688,067 12.85p

*	   The weighted average share price at the date of exercise of these options was 7.875 pence.

**  The weighted average share price at the date of exercise of these options was 6.926 pence.

The weighted average remaining contractual life for the share options outstanding as at 31 December 2014 was 
6.64 years (2013: 6.19 years).

The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at the end of the year was zero to 15.5 pence (2013: zero to 
15.5 pence).

On 16 October 2009, 4,847,099 of USR were granted to certain directors, executives and key employees under 
the Company’s joint share ownership scheme ("JSOS"). 50% of USR vested 12 months from the date of grant 
and 50% of USR vested 24 months from the date of grant. The exercise price of the USR granted is 15.50 pence 
compounded at 3.5% per annum over the year from the grant date to the exercise date of USR. The fair value 
of the USRs is estimated at the end of each reporting period using the Binomial Tree option pricing model. The 
contractual life of each USR granted is 10 years.

On 20 July 2012, 1,120,000 of contingent share awards were granted to certain directors, executives and key 
employees under the Company’s JSOS, which will vest 197 days from the date of grant. The contractual life of 
each contingent share awards granted is 10 years.

 On 30 December 2014, 2,423,358 of share awards were granted to certain key employees under the Company’s 
JSOS, which will vest immediately at the date of grant. The contractual life of each share offers granted is 10 
years.

The following table lists the inputs to the model used to calculate the fair value of USRs for the year.
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28       Related party transactions

Identification of related parties

The Group has a related party relationship with its subsidiaries, jointly controlled entity, associates and key 
management personnel. The company receives and pays certain debtors and creditors on behalf of its 
subsidiaries and the amounts are recharged to the entities. The amount in current period was ($8,745,164) and 
the balance at the end of the period was ($15,668,262). Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries 
have been eliminated on consolidation.

Transactions with key management personnel

The Group’s key management personnel are the Executive and Non-executive Directors as identified in the 
director’s report. 

Trading transactions

The following table provides the total amount of significant transactions and outstanding balances which have 
been entered into with related parties during the years ended 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013.

2014
US$'000

2013
US$'000

Loans to related parties
Subsidiaries:
ISAK International Holding Ltd 870 870
China Cleantech Partners, L.P. 340 -
China Venture Capital GP Ltd 318 318
China Venture Capital AMC Ltd - 322
China CleanTech GP Ltd - 110

China CleanTech AMC Ltd - 50

Amounts due from/(to) related parties*
Key management personnel:
Chris A Rynning*** - (316)
Niklas Ponnert*** -  (322)
Wang Chao Yong*** (47) (38)
Christopher Jemmett*** (47) (29)
Lionel de saint Exupery*** (47) (19)
Tom Preststulen*** - (19)
Shonaid Jemmett Page*** (47) (40)
Luke Leslie*** (12) (22)

Other:
Origo Advisers Ltd** (7,117) (1,853)



The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and have no fixed terms of repayment. 

Origo Advisers Ltd is controlled by entities whose ultimate beneficiaries include Niklas Ponnert (Director 
of the Company), Chris A Rynning  and Luke Leslie. 

Chris A Rynning (former Director of the Company); Niklas Ponnert (Director of the Company); Wang 
Chao Yong, Christopher Jemmett and Tom Preststulen were former Non-executive Directors of the 
Company; Lionel de saint Exupery (Non-executive Director of the Company); Shonaid Jemmett Page 
(Non-executive Chairman of the Company); and Luke Leslie is a Director of CCF which is one of 
subsidiaries of the Group. 

The amount is the management fee according to the advisory agreement between CCF and the 
Group. 

The amount disclosed relates to the consultancy services provided by Shonaid Jemmett Page to the 
Company in respect of IRCA Holdings Ltd.

*	

**	

***	

****	

*****	

28       Related party transactions (continued)

Origo Partners Plc

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

57

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Origo Partners PLC     December 2013

2014
US$'000

2013
US$'000

Transactions
Key management personnel:
Luke Leslie**** (17) (22)
Shonaid Jemmett Page***** - (92)

Other:
Origo Advisers Ltd** (5,790) (3,091)

29       Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise 
shareholders’ value.

The Group manages and makes appropriate adjustments to its capital structure on an ongoing basis in 
light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristic of the underlying assets. To maintain 
or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust dividend payments to shareholders, return capital 
to shareholders and/or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital 
requirements. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 31 
December 2014 and 31 December 2013.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by capital plus net debt. Net 
debt includes current liabilities less cash and bank balances. Capital includes equity attributable to equity 
holders of the parent company. The gearing ratios as at the reporting dates were as follows:

2014
US$'000

2013
US$'000

Current liabilities 1,257 3,035
Less: Cash and bank balances (5,185) (35,300)
Net debt (3,928) (32,265)
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29       Capital management (continued)

2014
US$'000

2013
US$'000

Liability component of convertible zero dividend 
   preference shares 63,609 58,313
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 53,772 112,806
Capital 117,381 171,119

Capital and net debt 113,453 138,845

Gearing ratio (3%) (23%)

30       Commitments and contingencies 

In August 2013, the Company entered into a payment guarantee agreement with ABSA Bank Ltd (“ABSA”) to 
guarantee IRCA’s repayment obligation under the facilities extended from ABSA, for an aggregate amount up 
to R6,769,000.

A Claim form which named Origo as the third defendant was issued in the High Court on 6 February 2013. 
The claim relates to the Company’s holding in Roshini International Bio Energy Corporation an investment 
which was written off as 31 December 2009. With the following update in the Claim form, Origo has been 
named as the second defendant and the date for service of the Claim Form is extended until 3 April 2015. The 
claim has been discontinued against Origo and filed at court on 8 April 2015. 

In February 2014, the Company made an announcement regarding a complaint raised by Brooks Macdonald 
with the Company in respect of the terms of Convertible Zero Dividend Preference Shares (“Convertible 
Preference Shares” or the "CZDP”) (the "First Complaint").  Brooks Macdonald contends that the change 
of control provisions should have included an option exercisable by the holders of the CZDP to redeem the 
CZDP upon a change of control in respect of Origo (a "CZDP COC Redemption Option").  This is on the basis 
of what was mentioned in a short-form term sheet (the "CZDP Term Sheet") that was appended to the placing 
letter entered into between Liberum (on behalf of Origo) and Spearpoint for the subscription by Spearpoint 
of the CZDP (the CZDP Admission Document and Articles, as amended, having not yet been prepared when 
the placing letter was signed). The CZDP Term Sheet contained a provision that Brooks Macdonald suggest 
should be interpreted as indicating that Spearpoint would have a CZDP COC Redemption Option.   

The CZDP Term Sheet contained only brief details of the CZDP and Spearpoint's subscription was 
subject (amongst other things) to detailed documentation being produced and approved (i.e. the CZDP 
Admission Document and the Articles, as amended). Spearpoint had the opportunity to review this detailed 
documentation prior to its acquisition of the CZDP and should have made its actual subscription for the 
CZDP based on the final information contained in the CZDP Admission Document and the Articles. No query 
regarding the non-inclusion in the terms of the CZDP of a CZDP COC Redemption Option was raised by 
Spearpoint at the time of issue of the CZDP in 2011 or subsequently (including at the time of the 2013 CZDP 
Amendment), until the communication by Brooks Macdonald of its complaint.       

•	

•	

•	
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30       Commitments and contingencies (continued)  

Brooks Macdonald has indicated that it may commence legal proceedings if the terms of the CZDP are not 
amended to provide a CZDP COC Redemption Option.  Such an amendment could only be made if shareholders 
approve the relevant changes to the Articles at a general meeting. Origo has consulted a limited number of its 
key shareholders to discuss the complaint and understands that shareholders would be unlikely to approve 
the amendments to the Articles proposed by Brooks Macdonald if they were put to shareholders. Origo has 
also sought legal advice in respect of Brooks Macdonald's complaint. On the basis of that legal advice, Origo 
considers that a legal claim against Origo, if initiated by Brooks Macdonald, would be unlikely to succeed.  
 
To date, no legal proceedings have been commenced by Brooks MacDonald in relation to the First Complaint, 
although Brooks MacDonald has not withdrawn its threat to bring such legal proceedings. 
 
In addition, Brooks MacDonald, through its lawyers in the Isle of Man (where the Company is incorporated), 
has raised a further complaint (the "Second Complaint"). Brooks MacDonald asserts that the resolution passed 
on 8 March 2011 ("March 2011 Resolution") to amend the Company's Articles to reflect the creation of the 
CZDP was not validly passed.   This assertion rests on an argument that  a "75% Resolution" (as defined in the 
Articles), which is required in order to amend the Company's Articles, requires a majority of holders of 75% of all 
issued and outstanding shares to have voted in favour of it rather than a majority of 75% of votes cast. Brooks 
MacDonald, therefore, contends that if the March 2011 Resolution was not validly passed it would have a legal 
claim for the return from the Company of the consideration paid for the purchase of the CZDP.     

The Company is firmly of the view that there is no substance to the Second Complaint and that the March 2011 
Resolution was validly passed. The Company has taken legal advice which supports this position. 
 
The Second Complaint was not referred to in the BAMA Announcement nor has Brooks MacDonald commenced 
legal proceedings in respect of the complaint. However, Brooks MacDonald has refused the Company's direct 
request to withdraw the Second Complaint. In these circumstances, the Company proposes to act promptly to 
remove any possible doubt that its Articles operate on any basis other than that on which the Company and its 
shareholders have proceeded to date.  Therefore, the Company has issued an application in the Isle of Man 
Court for a declaration that the Articles bear the meaning propounded by the Company. In November 2014, the 
Isle of Man Court ordered that Brooks Macdonald be appointed as a representative defendant in the Declaratory 
Proceedings on behalf of the holders of the Company's CZDP shares, with costs to be paid by the Company 
on an indemnity basis in any event as applied by Brooks Macdonald. The Company now hopes the Declaratory 
Proceedings will be progressed without further delay.  The Company is seeking to have this application dealt with 
on an expedited basis in order to remove any uncertainty as to the operation of its Articles as quickly as possible.  

At the requisitioned general meeting of the Company held on 16 January 2015, all of the resolutions to approve 
a number of changes to the board of directors of the Company and to the Company's investing policy proposed 
by Brooks Macdonald were voted down by the Company's shareholders by way of poll.

The Company remains committed to attempting to work with Brooks Macdonald and other shareholders to 
achieve a mutually acceptable resolution to both the First Complaint and the Second Complaint.  

There were no other material contracted commitments or contingent assets or liabilities at 31 December 2014 (31 
December 2013: none) that have not been disclosed in the consolidated financial statements.
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31       Events after the reporting period 

In January 2015, the Company announced that all of employees, including Chris Rynning (the Company’s 
former Chief Executive Officer) and Niklas Ponnert (the Company’s former Chief Financial Officer) but not 
including Wang Chao Yong (the Company's former Chairman), have been transferred and employed by the 
Origo Advisors Ltd (“OAL”) Group. With the employee transfer completed the Asset Realisation Support 
Agreement with OAL and the Agreement Relating to Assets with OAL became effective on 13 January 2015 
and as such, the Company is now externally managed by OAL. The Company's previous Investment Support 
Agreement dated 10 November 2009 between the Company and OAL has been terminated with simultaneous 
effect.

At the requisitioned general meeting of the Company held on 16 January 2015, all of the resolutions to 
approve a number of changes to the board of directors of the Company and to the Company's investing policy 
proposed by Brooks Macdonald were voted down by the Company's shareholders by way of poll.

In January, February and March 2015, the Company disbursed further working capital loans of EUR315,000 
to TPL GmbH. 

In February 2015, Origo announced that Wang Chao Yong, Chris Rynning, Christopher Jemmett and Tom 
Prestulen agreed to step down as Directors of the Company with immediate effect. Origo also announced the 
issue of a total of 2,040,000 new ordinary shares at an effective issue price of 5.875 pence per ordinary share 
to the Non-executive Directors and former Non-executive Directors.

•	

•	

•	

•	


